STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 2009AP898-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

Trial Court Case No. 02-CF-314

v.

MARK D. JENSEN,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON THE 27TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2008, IN THE KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, JUDGE BRUCE E. SCHROEDER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ROSE & ROSE Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant, Mark D. Jensen

BY: CHRISTOPHER W. ROSE State Bar No.1032478

By: TERRY W. ROSE State Bar No.01011552

5529-6th Avenue Kenosha, WI 53140 262/658-8550 or 262/657-7556

CICCHINI LAW OFFICE, LLC. Attorney for Defendant-Appellant, Mark D. Jensen

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether Julie Jensen's letter to the police and statements to Officer Kosman should have been excluded at the defendant-appellant's trial as the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in <u>Giles v. California</u> overruled the broad-based forfeiture exception to the confrontation clause as adopted by the Wisconsin Supreme Court?
- 2. Whether the admission of the letter and Jensen's statements to Officer Kosman is harmless error?
- 3. Whether Julie Jensen's letter to the police is a dying declaration?

Answered by trial court: Yes.

4. Whether the statements Julie Jensen made to Therese DeFazio, Tad & Margaret Wojt, Officer Ronald Kosman and Detective Ratzburg via the letter, should have been excluded as inadmissible hearsay?

Answered by trial court: No.

- 5. Whether the circuit court was biased against Mr. Jensen's case?
- 6. Whether prejudicial other acts evidence should have been excluded from Mr. Jensen's trial?
- 7. Whether the computer evidence seized at Mr. Jensen's home should have been excluded as the evidence was

obtained without a warrant, and was beyond the scope of the consent given?

8. Whether Mr. Jensen's conviction should be reversed in the interest of justice?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant-appellant, Mark D. Jensen, requests both oral argument and publication of the Court's opinion as the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Giles v. California reverses the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in State v. Jensen, 2007 WI 26, 299 Wis. 2d 267. As such, this opinion should be published.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A criminal complaint charging the defendant-appellant, Mark D. Jensen, with first-degree intentional homicide was filed in Kenosha County on March 19, 2002 (1); State v. Jensen, 2007 WI 26, ¶3. The complaint charged Mr. Jensen with the poisoning death of his wife on or about December 3,1998. See Jensen at ¶3.

A preliminary hearing was conducted on April 23, 2002, May 8, 2002 before the Honorable Carl M. Greco, Court Commissioner wherein the State presented testimony from several witnesses including Tadeusz Wojt and Detective Paul Ratzburg. See <u>Jensen</u> at ¶4. Following the preliminary hearing, Mr. Jensen was bound over for trial,

and an Information charging him with first-degree intentional homicide was filed. <u>Id</u>. at ¶8. Mr. Jensen subsequently entered a plea of not guilty at his arraignment on June 19, 2002. Id.

Mr. Jensen filed pretrial motions challenging the admissibility of the letter received by Detective Ratzburg and oral statements Julie Jensen had allegedly made to both Wojt and Kosman. Id. at ¶9. Mark Jensen also challenged the admissibility of oral statements Julie Jensen reportedly made to her physician, Dr. Richard Borman, and her son's teacher, Therese DeFazio. Id. These motions were briefed and argued before the trial court. The circuit court evaluated each of Julie Jensen's disputed statements independently to determine their admissibility under the hearsay rules and the governing test of Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56 (1980). Id. The court ruled that most, but not all of the statements were admissible as exceptions to the hearsay rule. Id. Julie Jensen's entire in-person statements to Kosman and the letter sent to Ratzburg were admitted in their entirety. Id. The State conceded the voice mails were inadmissible hearsay however.

On May 24, 2004, Mr. Jensen moved for reconsideration on the admissibility of Julie Jensen's statements in light of the United States Supreme Court ruling in Crawford, 541

U.S. 36. See <u>Jensen</u> at ¶10. After a hearing on the motion, the circuit court orally announced the decision on June 7, 2004 and concluded that Julie Jensen's letter and voice mails were testimonial and therefore inadmissible pursuant to <u>Crawford</u>. <u>Id</u>. The court rejected the State's argument that the statements were admissible under the doctrine of forfeiture by wrong-doing. <u>Id</u>. The court also determined that Julie Jensen's statements to Wojt and DeFazio were non-testimonial, and therefore, the statements were not excluded. <u>Id</u>. On August 4, 2004, the circuit court issued a written order memorializing its oral rulings. Id.

The State appealed the trial court's ruling with respect to Julie Jensen's letter and her voice mail messages to Kosman. See <u>Jensen</u> at ¶11. Jensen subsequently cross-appealed the rulings that the statements of Wojt and DeFazio were not excluded. <u>Id</u>. The State of Wisconsin filed a petition to bypass, which Mr. Jensen did not oppose. <u>Id</u>. The Wisconsin Supreme Court granted the petition in <u>State v. Jensen</u>, 2007 WI 26, ¶11. The Supreme Court in <u>State v. Jensen</u> held that if the State could prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the accused (Mark Jensen) caused the absence of the witness (Julie Jensen), then a broad-based forfeiture by wrong-doing doctrine would apply to the confrontation rights of Mr. Jensen. See

Jensen at ¶57. As such, the cause was remanded to the circuit court for a determination of whether, by a preponderance of the evidence, Mark Jensen caused Julie Jensen's unavailability, therefore forfeiting his right of confrontation. Id.¶58. A forfeiture hearing was held on this issue on several different dates in 2007 including: 7/5/, 7/12,7/30,7/31,8/1,8/2,8/3,8/28,8/29 and 8/30/07 (303,304,306,309,311,312,313,314,315,316). At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court concluded that the defendant-appellant, Mark D. Jensen, had waived his right to confront the testimonial statements attributed to Mrs. Jensen (317:36).

Other hearings in the Jensen case were held, including a motion to suppress based on the search of Mr. Jensen's home and seizure of his computer on October 21, 2002 (102). The issue at the motion hearing was whether the consent form signed by Mr. Jensen provided authority for police to seize Mr. Jensen's computer and hard drive (62:1-2).

At the forfeiture hearing, the State introduced various other acts evidence which was used to demonstrate the existence of a motive on the part of Mr.Jensen to murder his wife in the years preceding her death (306:26). After initially excluding the Other Acts evidence, the court admitted the evidence in an order Dated 9/28/07

(189:2;107:17). The purpose of the evidence was to show that Mr. Jensen was leaving photographs around the house to make Julie Jensen feel guilty and embarrassed about a very brief affair that she had in 1990 or 1991 (306:27). Various objections were made to this evidence and ruled on by the trial court at Mr. Jensen's trial (342:178,197-98;343:63-65;350:155-59,202,301; 353:84-85).

A jury trial commenced in Mr. Jensen's case on January 3,2008 (326). The jury trial concluded on February 21, 2008 (362). At the conclusion of the trial, the defendant-appellant, Mark D.Jensen was found guilty of first-degree intentional homicide (362:11). Thereafter, on April 6, 2009 Mr. Jensen filed a notice of appeal with the Court of Appeals to appeal his conviction (287). Thereafter, this appeal follows. The remaining relevant statements of facts will be cited to throughout the argument section of this brief due to the very large volume of material in order to prevent repetition.

ARGUMENT

I. THE WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN

STATE V. JENSEN ADOPTING A BROAD FORFEITURE
BY WRONG-DOING EXCEPTION TO THE CONFRONTATION
CLAUSE, WAS OVERRULED BY THE UNITED STATES SUPREME
COURT IN GILES V.CALIFORNIA AND JULIE JENSEN'S
STATEMENTS TO OFFICER KOSMAN AND LETTER TO THE
POLICE ARE THEREFORE INADMISSIBLE PURSUANT
TO CRAWFORD V. WASHINGTON.

In State v. Jensen, 2007 WI 26, 299 Wis. 2d 267, 302, ¶ 57, the Wisconsin Supreme Court adopted a broad forfeiture by wrongdoing exception to the confrontation clause. In so doing, the Court concluded that if the State could prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the accused, Mark D. Jensen, caused the absence of the witness, Julie Jensen, the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine would therefore apply to the confrontation rights of the defendant. See Jensen at ¶57. In so doing, the Wisconsin Supreme Court looked to other cases from other jurisdictions where a defendant had forfeited his right to confrontation if the witness's absence was due to a defendant's wrongdoing. See Jensen at ¶46 citing to State v. Meeks, 88 P.3d 789, 794 (Kan. 2004). The Supreme Court further cited to Professor Friedman, a renowned expert on the Confrontation Clause for another reason to adopt a broad forfeiture by wrongdoing exception in the State of Wisconsin. Id at ¶47. In essence, therefore, the Wisconsin Supreme Court in State v. Jensen believed "that in a post-Crawford world the broad view of forfeiture by wrongdoing espoused by Friedman and utilized by various jurisdictions since Crawford's release is essential." State v. Jensen at ¶52. The Wisconsin Supreme Court therefore elected to

adopt a broad forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine in Wisconsin. Id.

Since State v Jensen, the United States Supreme Court has since held in Giles v. California, 128 S.Ct. 2678, 171 L.Ed. 2d 488 (2008) that it would not approve of an exception to the confrontation clause unheard of at the time of the founding and/or 200 years thereafter. See Giles, 128 S.Ct. 2678, 2693 (2008). The broad forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine therefore adopted by the Wisconsin Supreme Court has since been overruled by the United States Supreme Court in Giles v. California. As such, the statements that Julie Jensen gave to Officer Kosman as well as her letter to the police, the so-called "letter from the grave", are inadmissible evidence. The admission of both the letter and the statements to Officer Kosman into evidence entitle Mark D. Jensen to a new trial therefore as admission of both the letter and statements are not harmless given their content and scope in which they were used at Mr. Jensen's trial.

Additionally, the trial court during Mark D. Jensen's trial noted that the State had conceded that Mark Jensen did not kill Julie Jensen for the purposes of preventing her testimony (358:127;110:20). Further, the trial court, the Honorable Bruce E. Schroeder presiding, stated that if

Giles were reversed by the United States Supreme Court,
"grave constitutional error" would have occurred in the

Jensen trial (358:124). The trial court, therefore held

that the letter written by Julie Jensen was a dying

declaration and therefore admissible into evidence.

(358:131). However, contrary to the trial court's sua

sponte conclusion, the Jensen letter was not a dying

declaration. As such, the Jensen letter was not admissible

under this exception and Mark Jensen's confrontation clause

rights were violated with the admission of the letter.

(a) standard of review.

Whether the admission of evidence violates a defendant's right to confrontation is a question of law subject to independent appellate review. <u>Jensen</u> at ¶12; <u>State v. Williams</u>, 2002 WI 58, 253 Wis.2d 99, ¶7. An appellate court must accept the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous <u>Id.</u>, citing <u>State v.</u> Jackson, 216 Wis. 2d 646 (1998).

(i) Julie Jensen's statements, letter and voice mail messages to the police are testimonial under Crawford and therefore inadmissible.

1. The Crawford Decision

The confrontation clause of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions guarantee criminal defendants the right to confront the witnesses against them. Jensen, at \P

13; State v. Manuel, 2005 WI 75, ¶ 36, 281 Wis. 2d 554; U.S. Const.amend VI; Wis. Const. art. I, § 7. The Wisconsin Supreme Court generally applies United States Supreme Court precedent when interpreting these clauses. See State v.Hale, 2005 WI 7, ¶43, 277 Wis. 2d 593.

In Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), the U.S. Supreme Court held that where testimonial evidence is at issue, the Sixth Amendment demands that where a witness is unavailable to testify at trial, there must be both a showing of unavailability and a prior opportunity for cross examination. See Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. at 33. Where testimonial statements are at issue, furthermore, the only indicia of reliability sufficient to satisfy constitutional demands is the one the Constitution actually prescribes: confrontation. Id. The Ohio v. Roberts test remains when non-testimonial statements are at issue. State v. Manuel, 2005 WI 75, ¶54-55; Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68. Although the U.S. Supreme Court did not spell out a comprehensive definition of what "testimonial means" it applies at a minimum to prior testimony at a preliminary hearing, before a grand jury, or at a formal trial; and to police interrogations. See State v. Jensen at ¶ 16, citing Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68.

In deciding subsequent cases involving the Confrontation Clause, the U.S. Supreme Court retained its position from Crawford that it would not define the term "non-testimonial" beyond the three formulations of the classes of testimonial statements: ex parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent, extra-judicial statements, and statements made which an objective witness reasonably believed would be used at a later trial. State v. Jensen at ¶19, adopted in Manuel at¶39; Davis v. Washington, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 2273 (2006). The Court, however, did expand its previous discussion of what constituted testimonial statements and held that statements "are non-testimonial when made in the course of police interrogation under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency." See Davis, 126, S.Ct. at 2273.

(ii) The Jensen letter and statements made to Officer Kosman.

In <u>State v. Jensen</u>, the Supreme Court was left to decide the three formations of testimonial statements from <u>Crawford</u>. See <u>State v. Jensen</u>, at ¶20. Only the third formulation was applicable to the statements at issue in the Jensen case as there were no ex parte in-court

statements or extra judicial statements made in formalized testimonial materials. <u>Id.</u> As such, given the third <u>Crawford</u> formulation, the Wisconsin Supreme Court in <u>Jensen</u> held that Julie's statement to the police and letter were testimonial, whereas the statements to her neighbor, Wojt, and her son's teacher, DeFazio, were non-testimonial. <u>Id.</u> This was so as a reasonable person in Julie Jensen's position would anticipate a letter addressed to the police and accusing another of murder would be available for use at a later trial. See Jensen at ¶27.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court in <u>Jensen</u> also determined that the voice mails to Officer Kosman were testimonial. <u>Id</u> at ¶30. The Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded that the information relayed to Officer Kosman was to further the investigation of Mark Jensen's activities. <u>Id</u>. In sum, therefore, the Supreme Court in <u>Jensen</u> concluded that Julie Jensen's letter and voice mail messages were testimonial. Id. at ¶34.

However, the Wisconsin Supreme Court in so ruling, also held that the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine applied to Mark Jensen's case and, thus, Mr. Jensen forfeited his confrontation rights if Mr. Jensen was found to have caused the absence of the witness (Julie Jensen) by a preponderance of the evidence. See <u>Jensen</u> at ¶57. In so

doing, the <u>Jensen</u> court adopted a broad forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine, broader than that which was known at the time of the founding as articulated in the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in <u>Giles v. California</u>, 128 S.Ct. 2678, 171 L.Ed. 2d 488 (2008).

(iii) The U.S. Supreme Court's decision in <u>Giles</u> reverses the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in <u>State v. Jensen</u>, 2007 WI 26, as the <u>Giles</u> court declined to approve of the broad-based forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine, unheard of at the time of the founding.

The U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Giles declined to approve of any exceptions to the Confrontation Clause which were unheard at the time of the founding and/or for 200 years thereafter. Giles, 128 S.Ct. at 2693. In Giles, the U.S. Supreme Court was asked to decide whether a defendant forfeited his Sixth Amendment right to confront a witness against him, when the judge determined that the wrongful act by the defendant made the witness unavailable to testify at trial. See Giles, 128 S.Ct. at 2682. The theory of forfeiture by wrongdoing accepted by the state court, according to the U.S. Supreme Court, was not a founding-era exception to the right of confrontation because the manner in which the common law forfeiture rule was applied made plain that unconfronted testimony would not be admitted without a showing that a particular

defendant intended to prevent a witness from testifying at trial. See Giles at 2684. In cases where the evidence suggested that a defendant had caused a person to be absent, but had not done so to prevent the person from testifying - as in a typical murder case involving accusatorial statements by the victim - the testimony was excluded unless it was confronted or fell within the dying-declaration exception. Id. Prosecutors did not appear to have even argued that a judge could admit unconfronted statements because a defendant committed the murder for which he was on trial. Id. The common law wrongful procurement rule was aimed at conduct designed to prevent a witness from testifying therefore according to the Supreme Court in Giles. Id. at 2686. The forfeiture rule covered this sort of conduct as the absence of such a rule would create an intolerable incentive for a defendant to bribe, intimidate or kill the witnesses against them. The courts refused to carry the forfeiture rationale any further. Id. The State's proposed exception to the right of Confrontation in Giles was not an exception established at the time of the founding therefore. Id. In sum, the U.S. Supreme Court's interpretation of the common law forfeiture rule was supported by the common law's uniform exclusion of unconfronted inculpatory testimony by murder victims in

cases in which a defendant was on trial for killing the victim, but was not shown to have done so for the purpose of preventing a victim from testifying. <u>Id</u>. at 2688. As the state courts view of the law was in error, the <u>Giles</u> court reversed the state of California. Id. at 2693.

(iv) State v. Jensen's broad forfeiture rule was contrary to the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Giles; therefore, Julie Jensen's letter to the police and statements to Officer Kosman are inadmissible evidence and should have been excluded at Mark Jensen's trial.

As stated previously, the court in State v. Jensen adopted a broad forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine. See State v. Jensen at ¶57. In so holding, it concluded that if the state could prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the accused (Mark Jensen) caused the absence of the witness (Julie Jensen), then the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine will apply to the confrontation rights of Mr. Jensen. Id. Thus, the case was remanded to the circuit court for a determination of whether or not Mark Jensen caused Julie Jensen's unavailability, and forfeited his right to confrontation. Id. at ¶58. The Giles decision however makes it clear that a broad forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine is an exception unheard of at the time of the founding and is therefore not an exception to the confrontation clause. See Giles v. California at 2693.

Although the trial court in the Jensen case proceeded under the broad forfeiture doctrine, the evidence presented at the forfeiture hearing clearly did not establish that Mr. Jensen murdered his wife to prevent her from testifying at a future murder trial. As such, Julie Jensen's letter and the statements made to Officer Kosman are inadmissible as evidence in this case.

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