## **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN **02-01-2010**

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### **DISTRICT II**

Case No. 2009AP898-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARK D. JENSEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE BRUCE E. SCHROEDER, PRESIDING

## BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

MARGUERITE M. MOELLER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1017389

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

While Jensen tried to portray Julie as an unfit mother, surely he knew their friends did not share this view. For example, Sharon Nehring testified that "Julie was a very loving, hands-on mother. She loved her kids to death and was always . . . doing things with them" (333:238). Similarly, Angela Martinelli described Julie as "always a very caring, loving mother" (336:152). Marion Pacetti said Julie "was an excellent mother" and that "[t]he children were everything to her" (*id*.:238-39). Next-door neighbor Tadeusz Wojt testified Julie was a "very loving mother, very great parent" (339:102-03).

Given the virtually uniform perception that Julie was a wonderful mother, and her status as a fulltime mom, Jensen undoubtedly realized that if Julie sought primary physical custody of their children, she was likely to get it. He also knew, based on Julie's withdrawal of the 1991 divorce petition, that keeping child custody was important to Julie. This realization, coupled with Jensen's desire to retain custody, provided another motive for him to kill Julie rather than let her divorce him.

Based on the above evidence, this court should find that one reason Jensen killed Julie was to prevent her testimony in a divorce/child custody action, confirming Julie's belief that "Mark would kill me first before he divorced me" (340:9). Because that finding supports the trial court's forfeiture ruling, Julie's testimonial statements were properly admitted even post-*Giles*.

C. Alternatively, this court should remand for a determination on the intent element of forfeiture.

If this court is unable to find by a preponderance of the evidence, based on the current record, that Jensen killed Julie to prevent her from testifying in a family court action, then this court should remand to the trial court to make that determination.

A remand would allow the State to present additional evidence to support its theory that Jensen killed Julie to avoid the consequences of a divorce. Fairness requires a remand, particularly since the trial court prevented the State from introducing evidence of various purchases Jensen had made, which the prosecutor argued would demonstrate "a financial motive . . . to not want to split his money with his homemaker wife" (342:38). Although the trial court prevented the jury from hearing that evidence, the court likely would have admitted it for purposes of deciding whether Jensen forfeited his right to confront But when the forfeiture hearing was held, the Julie. governing version of FBW did not include an intent element; thus, the prosecutor was unaware that such evidence might be critical. Fairness demands that the State be given a chance to meet this heightened showing, as the Supreme Court recognized in Giles when it declared that the state court was "free to consider evidence of the defendant's intent on remand." 128 S. Ct. at 2693.

Therefore, if this court agrees with Argument I.A. but finds insufficient evidence of the requisite intent, it should remand to the trial court to decide that question.

# II. ANY ERROR IN ADMITTING JULIE'S TESTIMONIAL STATEMENTS WAS HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

If this court finds that Jensen did not forfeit his right to confront Julie, then, for the reasons discussed below, it should find that admission of her testimonial statements was harmless error.

#### A. The test for harmless error.

See Jensen's brief at 19-20.

As beneficiary of any error in admitting Julie's testimonial statements, the State will show that admission of this evidence was harmless because virtually all the information in her letter and oral statements was duplicated by admissible evidence; even if the letter's

contents were inadmissible in the State's case-in-chief, the jury still would have learned of the letter and some of its content; and the State's case was strong even without Julie's testimonial statements.

B. Most of the information in the letter and in Julie's statements to Kosman was duplicated by other admissible evidence.

In claiming that admission of Julie's letter and testimonial statements to Kosman cannot be harmless, Jensen ignores the fact that virtually every statement in Julie's letter and to Kosman was duplicated by other unobjectionable evidence introduced at trial. To illustrate, the State will dissect Julie's letter sentence-by-sentence and show how the same or similar information was presented via alternate means.

"I took this picture and am writing this on Saturday 11-21-98 at 7 AM." Tadeusz Wojt testified that Julie had photographed Jensen's notes she had found (339:130-31). Jensen's sister, Laura Koster (353:203), testified that in fall 1998, Julie had photographed and shown her a picture of a page from Jensen's business planner (354:114). Koster identified the handwriting as her brother's (*id*:117).

"This list was in my husband's business daily planner – not meant for me to see." Koster's testimony duplicated the first half of this statement (354:114), and Therese DeFazio testified that Julie said she saw a list of suspicious items near the computer and gave it to someone (334:138). Whether Jensen intended for Julie to see the list is not critical.

"I don't know what it means, but if anything happens to me, he would be my first suspect." Wojt testified that Julie couldn't decide whether Mark was trying to poison her or "drive her nuts" (339:110). Both Wojt and DeFazio

testified Julie feared Jensen was going to poison her (339:117; 334:138, 141). Koster testified that she had a conversation with Julie in fall 1998 in which Julie said she thought Mark might be planning to kill her (354:117-18).

"Our relationship has deteriorated to the polite superficial." Jensen admitted to Ratzburg that their marriage was never the same after Julie's affair (367:Ex. 142:53). In e-mails to Kelly, Jensen alluded to marital problems. *See*, *e.g.*, *id*.:Ex. 42:1. Wojt testified about marital problems Julie said they were having (339:101-03, 112-13).

"I know he's never forgiven me for that brief affair I had with that creep seven years ago." Dave Nehring testified that Jensen "remained upset about [the affair] and distressed over it for as long as I knew him" and that neither Jensen's anger nor his hurt had diminished over the years (334:8). DeFazio provided similar testimony (id.:156). Evidence that Jensen repeatedly placed pornographic pictures around the house and tried to convince Julie they were left by her former paramour (see argument IV., infra) showed that he never forgave her.

"Mark lives for work and the kids; he's an avid surfer of the Internet . . ." Whether Jensen lived for work was not important, and his devotion to his children was well-documented (see 354:87-89). Nehring testified that before Julie's death, Jensen conducted Internet searches on drug interactions "on a very frequent basis" (334:112). The State presented abundant evidence that a user of the Jensen home computer visited numerous Internet sites (see, e.g., 367:Ex. 272), and that Jensen was that user. See Argument II.D., infra.

"Anyway – I do not smoke or drink." Dr. Borman said that at a September 21, 1998 appointment, Julie denied smoking and reported drinking alcohol only occasionally (354:14-16).

"My mother was an alcoholic, so I limit my drinking to one or two a week." Julie's brother testified their mother was an alcoholic and that Julie drank only rarely (358:3, 19-20).

"Mark wants me to drink more with him in the evenings." Wojt provided similar information (339:113, 116), and Jensen told Nehring he was trying to get Julie to relax by offering her a glass of wine at night, but she always said no (334:21).

"I don't." See above.

"I would never take my life because of my kids. They are everything to me!" Julie told Dr. Borman she loved her children more than anything and that "they were the most important thing in the world to her" (354:69). DeFazio related that Julie told her she gave her neighbor a note "saying that if my husband ever kills me please believe that I did not commit suicide, I would never do that because I love my children and I wouldn't do that to my children" (334:151-52).

"I regularly take Tylenol and multi-vitamins; occassionally [sic] take OTC stuff for colds, Zantac, or Imodium." Dr. Borman's notes of Julie's September 1998 visit indicate she was taking a multivitamin and calcium (354:13-14). Whether she regularly took Tylenol and occasionally took over-the-counter medications was unimportant.

"[I] have one perscription [sic] for migraine tablets, which Mark use[s] more than I." This information does not appear outside the letter.

"I pray I'm wrong & nothing happens... but I am suspicious of Mark's suspicious behaviors & fear for my early demise." Testimony that Julie was suspicious of Jensen and thought he might try to kill her came from DeFazio (334:138-39) and Wojt (339:115-17). Julie also

told Koster she thought Mark might be trying to kill her (354:118).

"However, I will not leave David & Douglas." Dr. Borman testified that two days before her death, Julie denied being suicidal and said her boys meant everything to her and she didn't want to lose them (354:24, 31). *Also see* 334:151-52 (DeFazio testimony). Dr. Borman's notes from 1990 indicate she denied being suicidal then because "I could not do it because of my baby" (367:Ex. 222:third page).

"My life's greatest love, accomplishment and wish: 'My 3 D's – Daddy (Mark), David & Douglas." Julie's license plate read "MY 3 DS" (358:63).

The foregoing discussion illustrates that virtually all the information in Julie's letter was duplicated by admissible evidence from other sources. The same is true of Julie's testimonial statements to Kosman.

Those statements are summarized at page 25 of Jensen's brief. The State disputes Jensen's characterization of one statement as testimonial, however. Kosman's testimony that during past contacts, Julie reported "strange incidents occurring around the home" (343:43), is not a testimonial statement. That testimony refers to information Julie provided regarding harassment she believed Perry Tarica orchestrated. Julie's testimonial statements to Kosman were made in a voicemail and in person on November 24, 1998 (see id.:41-47).

Only Julie's statement that she thought Jensen was recording her conversations (343:43) was not replicated by other evidence. But this statement was not prejudicial because no evidence to support this belief was presented, and the statement actually supported his theory that Julie was emotionally unstable.

Julie's remaining testimonial statements to Kosman were presented via alternate means. Her statement that

she had photographed notes from Mark's planner and given them and a note to a neighbor, to be given to police if something happened to her (*see* 343:45), echoed statements made to DeFazio, Wojt and Koster. *See* 334:146; 339:130-31; 353:114. Her voicemail message that if anything happened to her, Mark would be her suspect (343:41), was similar to nontestimonial statements she made to Wojt and DeFazio. *See* 339:117; 334:138, 141. Finally, Kosman's testimony that Julie said it looked like Jensen was "trying to make it look like she was going to commit suicide" (343:46) was mirrored by DeFazio's testimony that Julie feared her husband "was going to make it look like a suicide" (334:147).

Thus, just as virtually all the statements in Julie's letter were replicated by other evidence, other witnesses related the same statements Julie had made to Kosman. This is one reason any error in admitting her letter and statements was harmless.

C. Even if the letter had not been admitted in the State's case-in-chief, the jury still would have learned of its existence and some of its content.

Even if Julie's letter had not been admitted in the State's case-in-chief, the jury would have learned of it and inferred that it was not a suicide note. Additionally, the jury would have learned of some of the letter's contents during the examination of the defense experts.

Dr. Mary Mainland relied on the letter in concluding that Julie's death was a homicide (345:26-29). Even if the letter's contents should not have been admitted, Dr. Mainland still would have been allowed to rely on the letter in forming her opinion. *See* Wis. Stat. § 907.03. Thus, when the prosecutor had Mainland list the sources underlying her opinion that Julie was not suicidal (345:24-26), the doctor could have said she relied in part on Julie's letter. Without divulging its contents, the prosecutor

could have asked her whether she considered the letter to be consistent or inconsistent with suicidal ideation, and the doctor would have said "inconsistent," as she did at trial (*id*.:29). Thus, even if the prosecutor had been prevented from exploring the letter's contents, which he did to some extent during the doctor's testimony (*id*.:27), the jury would have learned the letter existed and that the State's expert believed it was inconsistent with suicidal ideation.

Jensen wrongly assumes all references to the letter would be banished from the prosecution expert's testimony. While this is one option a trial court has under *State v. Weber*, 174 Wis. 2d 98, 107 n.6, 496 N.W.2d 762 (Ct. App. 1993), this judge would not have chosen that option, given his firm belief that the jury should hear as much relevant evidence as possible (*see*, *e.g.*, 342:65; 350:193, 203), and given that the central question was whether Jensen killed Julie or she killed herself.

The jury also would have heard about the letter from watching the DVD of Ratzburg's April 1999 interview of Jensen (367:Ex. 254), portions of which were played during Ratzburg's testimony (see 348:10-13). transcript of the played portion (367:Ex. 142) was given to the jury during deliberations. During their interview, Ratzburg produced Julie's letter and said "Read this. This is a letter your wife left me and Officer Ron Kosman" (id.:68). Even if the portions of the DVD and transcript quoting statements in the letter (see, e.g., id.:70) would have been excluded, the jury still would have viewed those portions of the DVD and transcript during which Ratzburg gave Jensen the letter and he read it to himself. Knowing Julie had left a letter that Ratzburg used to confront Jensen during questioning would have helped the jury evaluate Jensen's demeanor and credibility during that portion of the interview after Ratzburg revealed the letter's existence.

The jury also would have learned of the letter and some of its contents during the examination of the defense experts who opined that Julie's death was suicide (Dr. Spiro) or undetermined (Dr. Denton).

Both doctors relied on Julie's letter in formulating their opinions (367:Ex. 300:6, Ex. 310:4; R-Ap. 143). Dr. Denton's report called the letter "contrived, unbelievable, and self-serving" and said it was "very suspect as an indication of homicide" (367:Ex. 310:4; R-Ap. 167). Both sides questioned Dr. Denton about the letter (356:165-66, 202-03). Even if the letter had been excluded, the State would have been able to cross-examine the defense experts about it, even if they had not considered the letter in forming their opinions.

If Dr. Denton had relied on the letter despite its exclusion, the prosecutor could have cross-examined him about why he viewed the letter as not indicative of homicide, and this questioning necessarily would have revealed some of its contents to the jury. But, even if the defense had told its experts *not* to consider the letter in formulating their opinions, the prosecutor could have cross-examined them about whether they had considered the letter, especially Julie's claim that she would never take her life, in reaching their opinions. The extent to which the letter's contents would have been revealed is unclear, but certainly the prosecutor would have been entitled to ask about the letter and some of its statements in attempting to impeach the experts.

Thus, ruling the letter inadmissible in the State's case-in-chief would not have prevented any reference to it during trial. This is a second reason why any error in admitting the letter was harmless.

D. The case against Jensen was strong even without Julie's testimonial statements.

Another reason any error in admitting Julie's testimonial statements was harmless is that the case

against Jensen was strong even without the challenged evidence. Unlike a classic whodunit, here the jury had to decide whether Jensen killed Julie or whether she killed herself and tried to frame Jensen, as defense counsel posited in opening statement (*see* 328:51).

Thus, any evidence tending to favor the homicide theory or disfavor the suicide/framing theory strengthened the State's case. A summary of that evidence – wholly separate from Julie's letter or statements – is summarized below.

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